IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,	SUPREME COURT CASE No.SC11-45
Complainant,	T.F.B. F No. 2010-70,301(11F)
vs.	
DANIEL EDGAR TROPP,	
Respondent,	

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL E. TROPP, ESQ (PRO SE) FLORIDA BAR NO.: 948128 5750 COLLINS AVENUE, SUITE 4-A MIAMI BEACH, FLORIDA 33140 PHONE: (786) 306-1293

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the August 1, 2011 Amended Report of Referee recommending that Daniel E. Tropp "be found guilty of violating the following Rules Regulating the Florida Bar: Rules 4-3.1 (Meritorious Claims and Contentions); 4-3.3(a) (Candor Toward the Tribunal); 4-8.2(a) (Impugning Qualifications and Integrity of Judges or Other Officers); 4-8.4(c) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation); and 4-8.4(d) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice) of the Rules of professional Conduct." Amended Report, page 6, sec. III.

The Respondent further appeals the Referee's, County Court Judge Andrea R. Wolfson's recommendation that Daniel Tropp "be found guilty of misconduct justifying that he be disciplined by (A) Public Reprimand; (B) Respondent shall submit to any evaluation that Florida lawyers' Assistance (FLA) deems appropriate and that he "shall enter into any rehabilitative contract deemed necessary by such evaluation. Should a rehabilitative contract be recommended, Respondent shall be placed on probation for a period that is commensurate with the rehabilitative contract

(but shall not exceed three years)"; and (C) "Payment of The Florida bar's costs in these proceedings". (Amended Report, P. 7-8, sec. V).

The crux of the Bar's allegations against Tropp is that he "knowingly made allegations in his Fourth Motion [to disqualify] (TFB's Exhibit "A") that lack candor, are without merit and wrongfully impugn Judge Firtel". Complaint ¶¶ 9-14. Specifically, the Complaint alleges:

Respondent's Fourth Motion is predicated upon Judge Firtel's prejudice. *It alleges that Judge Firtel and Chames had improper ex parte discussions* about the amount of Respondent's support payments, outside of Respondent's presence, In August 2009. The Fourth Motion *also states that Baron had no recollection of any amounts being discussed during a meeting where he was present*".

Complaint ¶¶ 9 (emphasis supplied).

The Bar's Complaint claimed "Judge Firtel presided over the Respondent's divorce proceedings initiated in 2001", that "Judge Firtel presided over the post-dissolution litigation concerning Respondent's support payments"..." during which time respondent was represented by Richard Baron ("Baron"), and Egozi [Tropp's former wife] was represented by Deborah Chames" ("Chames").

Complaint, ¶¶ 3-6. (bracket added for clarification)

The Bar's Complaint further alleges that:

"a discussion regarding the amount Respondent's monthly payments did take place in Judge Firtel's chambers in August 2009. During an open hearing at which time Respondent was present, Judge Firtel summoned Chames and Baron to his chambers to discuss Respondent's support payments. Respondent did not request to be present at the in-chambers meeting. Respondent's attorney did attend the meeting".

Complaint ¶¶ 10. (emphasis added)

This disciplinary action was initiated as a result of Judge Firtel's official letter attaching a copy of his September 1, 2009 order for the Bar's review as stated in the Bar's complaint:

"Also on September 1, 2009, Judge Firtel issued an order Granting Fourth Verified Motion to Disqualify. Although the Order states that the Fourth Motion is legally sufficient, it refers the matter to The Florida Bar". Complaint, ¶¶ 8.

This was consistent with Judge Firtel's September 1, 2009 Order which specifically stated:

The Court has reviewed the Motion and finds that the Motion is legally sufficient and therefore disqualifies itself from further consideration of this case, Notwithstanding, this conclusion, the Court is not permitted to comment on the truthfulness or lack of truthfulness of the allegations; however, the former Husband/petitioner, Daniel Tropp is an attorney who has an obligation to be candid at all times with the Court and based upon the allegations he made in his motion, the Court is referring the matter to the Florida Bar".

(TFB's Exhibit "B"). (emphasis Added)

The Respondent has at all times denied that he ever "allege(s) that Judge Firtel and Chames had improper ex parte discussions", that he ever uttered any allegation that an ex-parte communication occurred, either implicitly

or explicitly, or that he was dishonest, untruthful or made any misrepresentations to the court. (Respondent's Answer-pleading, Appendix A, and Appendix B TR. p. 92-95).

On July 21, 2011, the final hearing before the Referee was concluded within two and half hours. (Appendix B TR. P.1) The Referee announced its ruling at the end of the trial and ratified its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in its Amended Report of Referee on August 1, 2011. (Appendix C). The Referee concluded that "Respondent was represented by Richard Baron ("Baron"), and Egozi was represented by Deborah Chames ("Chames") (Appendix C, p. 2, sec. II. B.) Also, the Court found that "Respondent and baron acterd as co-counsel in the handling of post dissolution proceedings, and at all times material herein, Respondent was acin his capacity as a lawyer as well as party litigant". (Appendix C, P. 3) The Amended Report states that "This Fourth Motion, and the allegations contained therein form the basis of the present disciplinary proceeding" (Appendix C, p.3) and that the Fourth Motion "alleged that Judge Firtel and Chames had improper ex parte discussions about the amount of Respondent's support payments, outside of Respondent's presence in August 2009". (Appendix C, p. 4) Furthermore, "the evidence presented at the final hearing established that this in-chambers

meeting took place during a recess of a hearing at which Respondent, Mr. Baron and Ms. Chames were all present" and that "Mr. Baron informed Respondent of same". (Appendix C, p.4) Moreover, the Amended Report states that "Respondent's failure to state that Baron was present at this meeting constitutes a misrepresentation by omission, designed to mislead the court. There was no objective reasonable basis for making the allegation of an ex parte meeting because Respondent knew that Baron was present in chambers during the meeting". (Appendix C, p. 5) (emphasis supplied).

The Referee's reasoning in its conclusions were evidenced when it stated "what your responsibilities were are really irrelevant to the court, but when you act as co-counsel, that means to the Court or to anybody involved, that communications can occur to either of the individuals, and that would never be considered legally an ex-parte communication. It would only be ex-parte if the attorney or the client were not present". (Appendix B, TR. P.99, L. 19) and "So anyone who objectively reads this document is only left to believe that your contention is that Judge Firtel had an ex-parte communication in your case". (Appendix B, TR. P. 101, L. 4).

This analysis is consistent with Bar Counsel's contention at trial that "case law doesn't accept this subjective standard. The standard is actually an objectively reasonable basis for believing what [he] said to be true. There cannot be an objectively reasonable basis here because, at all times, Richard Baron was in the case, was not allowed out of the case, despite their best efforts to make that happen, and he was present at that meeting". (Appendix B, TR. P. 79, L. 8)

In regard to findings of guilt as to Rule 4-8.2, impugning the qualifications and integrity of Judges and other officers, the court stated that "once again, this reeks of ex-parte, The Florida Bar Exhibit 1, even though those words are not used". (Appendix B, TR. P. 103, L. 14). "In addition, the Court finds the fact that you accused Judge Firtel of being, quote, predisposed, also goes to the violation of this rule".

The Referee's Recommended discipline by public reprimand (Appendix B, P. 7 and that "Respondent shall submit to any evaluation that Florida lawyer's Assistance, Inc (FLA) deems appropriate. Respondent shall enter into any rehabilitative contract deemed necessary by such evaluation". (Appendix C, P.7) The Court reasoned that "The Florida Bar was recommending what they feel to be, perhaps, the lowest-type sanction

that they have seen consistently throughout the Courts". (Appendix B, TR. 121). Moreover, the Court pointed out "when I mention that there have been some red flags during the course of this case, it's certainly not to say that [Tropp] have not conducted yourself professionally or as a perfect gentleman, as you have done here today in court". (Appendix B, TR. P. 121, L. 21). There had never been any mention or allegation whatsoever in any proceedings relevant to this case, by either the Bar or the Complainant, Judge Firtel, that could have prepared the Respondent to contemplate the sanction to undergo "any evaluation that Florida Lawyer's Assistance (FLA) deems appropriate" or by any other physician or expert.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

The Referee's findings and conclusions were based significantly, if not entirely, upon the weight of the evidence from the testimony of Richard Baron concerning communications between himself and Tropp.

Specifically, the court's findings give considerable weight to the assertion that Mr. Baron told Tropp that he was present during the in-chambers meeting and regarding the substance of the discussions. Mr. Baron's attempt to invoke any attorney/client privilege was overruled despite the

fact that Respondent never received any summons for Mr. Baron before or during the trial (appendix B, TR. P. . However, a copy of the summons dated as the same date of the trial was subsequently provided upon request from the Respondent after the final hearing. (Appendix D).

However, Mr. Baron testified when asked if he recalls discussing the substance of the in chambers discussion admitted that "I think you were there, but could I sit here and swear to the Court under oath that I have a specific recollection, I do not" (Appendix B, TR. P. 51, L. 13) and "I don't have an independent, specific recollection as I sit here today that when I walked out of the courtroom, you were there and we had a discussion. I believe that's what happened. But can I swear that I have a clear recollection, I do not" (Appendix B TR. P. 52 L. 7) Mr. baron further admitted that "what I don't remember is that – what I do remember also is that there was some point where I didn't remember the amount of money that the Judge had written down" and further admitted that "Like I said, I have hundreds of cases, many discussions in chambers with Judges and I wasn't sure of the amount". (Appendix B, TR. P. 54 L. 9-19)

Next, the record is clear that, at all relevant times in the Family Court proceeding, Tropp was acting as his own counsel in regard to the financial matters which consisted of not only determination of Arrears, if any, but involved his seeking modification and the provision of credits and offsets in accordance with his Marital Settlement Agreement. Mr. Baron entered into the case in regard to Custody Issues only wherein Tropp was trying to enforce his timesharing orders and sought modification for additional timesharing rights. Mr. Baron clarified this fact by entering his Limited Notice of Appearance as to Custody Issues Only before the filing of the Fourth Motion. (Appendix E) Moreover, Tropp's Former Wife was representing herself on custody issues and Deborah Chames had entered a limited notice of appearance on financial issues only upon the conclusion of all custody issues on or about April 9, 2009. (Appendix F)

In fact, most of the post-dissolution litigation was initiated by Tropp in 2007 wherein he filed his notice of appearance before the Honorable Judge Bailey who had closed post-judgment proceedings on or about (Appendix G).

In order to dispel any potential unfounded allegations, Tropp voluntarily entered into a three (3) year contract with FLA in 2007 and after completing same, voluntarily entered into a second contract. At all times relevant to the entire course of the family law proceedings and to this disciplinary action, Tropp had voluntarily submitted himself to FLA requirements and random testing without a single incident. Moreover, Tropp had been evaluated by two (2) FLA approved and recommended specialist Dr. Seely and Dr. Eustace, both of whom found that Tropp had complied with all requests and protocol. Notwithstanding, the Bar Counsel surpised Tropp during Final hearing by presenting a confidential Agreed order that was never filed with the court (TFB's exhibit 7). Bar Counsel was unaware of how she ever received a copy of said confidential and sensitive order. (Appendix H) Also, Bar Counsel admitted that "[she] had conversations with Michael Cohen (Director of FLA) I think I know what he thinks would be appropriate" (appendix B, P. 117 L. 17). At all times relevant, Tropp was suppose to have been protected by the confidentiality and privilege protections afforded by the Bar and FLA and never waived same.

Finally, the Respondent filed three verified Motions to Disqualify which set forth detailed reasons and specifics regarding the grounds seeking recusal. (appendix I). The reasons and grounds were never contested or refuted by any party to the proceedings and detail legitimate grounds beyond the in chambers meetings. Moreover, the Respondent filed an appeal seeking a writ of prohibition two (2) days prior to date Judge Firtel granted the Fourth Motion and Tropp proffers that Judge Firtel was compelled to grant the recusal as opposed to the inference that Tropp abused process by desperately fabricating an allegation concerning an ex parte discussion.

III. Summary of Argument

- 1. The Referee's Findings of Fact are Factually erroneous, Unjustified and Inconsistent.
- 2. The Referee's Recommendations as to Guilt are erroneous, Unjustified and Unlawful.
- 3. The "Fourth Motion" alleged Predisposition and not "improper ex parte communication".
- 4. Respondent never alleged Judge Firtel had "an improper ex-parte communication", but in defense of this disciplinary action, Tropp pleads Truth as

his Defense since the undisputed communications were in fact "Improper" and "Ex-parte" by definition.

- 5. The Findings of Guilt as to Rules 4-3.1 (Meritorious Claims and Contentions); 4-3.3(a) (candor Toward tribunal) 4.8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) were not intended to create or infringe upon a civil cause of action or affect a case substantively and are intended to apply to a lawyer acting in his fiduciary capacity toward a client.
- 6. The Referee's Recommendation as to Disciplinary Measures are erroneous, unlawful and unjustified.

IV. ARGUMENT.

a. THE REFERREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE FACTUALLY ERRONEOUS, UNJUSTIFIED AND INCONSISTENT WITH THE DOCKET ACTIVITY.

There are material findings of fact in the Amended report of the Referee that are directly inconsistent with the record proceedings. First, the facts of the post-dissolution case in question clearly reflect that Richard Baron, Esq. was not merely representing the respondent in whole but rather was acting under a limited appearance as "co-counsel" in regard to custody issues that had already been resolved during the relevant time period. Next, the first Verified Motion to Disqualify was based on prejudice and did not claim Judge Firtel was "biased". Also, the second motion was not denied as legally insufficient on August 21, 2009,

but rather, the first motion to disqualify dated August 7, 2009 was denied on the basis that it was legally insufficient *and untimely*.

Furthermore, the fourth motion to disqualify never "alleged that Judge Firtel and Chames had improper ex-parte discussion". Rather, it alleged that the Judge pre-judged or was predisposed in his findings as the grounds for recusal, in part, and had been further based on comments and attitudes made by the former wife and her new husband among other matters incorporated as grounds which were never refuted or challenged by the former wife or her counsel.

The facts in evidence adduced at the final hearing never indicated that this inchambers meeting took place during a recess of a hearing. By all accounts, the transcript of the proceedings clearly and repeatedly establish that Mr. Baron could not remember most, if any, of the details surrounding the relevant events that transpired. Moreover, Mr. Baron specifically admitted that he did not "remember telling him what happened" although he did later claim that it would been his practice to inform me. (See page 26 line 2 of the record proceedings).

(b) THE REFERREE'S RECOMMENDATION AS TO GUILT ARE ERRONEOUS, UNJUSTIFIED AND UNLAWFUL.

Whether a motion is legally sufficient is a question of law that is reviewed by an appellate court *de novo*. *See* Arbelaez v. State, 898 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 2005).

Ruling on a disqualification motion "is not a question of how the judge feels; it is a question of what feeling resides in the [movant's] mind and the basis for such feeling". Wargo v Wargo, 669 So. 2d 1123, 1124 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (quoting State ex. Rel. Brown v Dewell, 131 Fla. 566, 573, 179 So. 695, 697-98 (1938). "When a judge has looked beyond the mere legal sufficiency of a suggestion of prejudice and has attempted to refute the charges of impartiality, he or she has then exceeded the proper scope of his [or her] inquiry and on that basis alone established grounds for his [or her] disqualification". Bundy v. Rudd, 366 So. 2d 440, 442 (Fla. 1978) cited in Stelzer and Stelzer vs. Chin, No. 3D08-1776 (Fla. 3DCA 2008).

The Florida Supreme Court has held that "whether the motion is legally sufficient is a question of law". Gore v. State, 964 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 2007) and "whether the motion is legally sufficient is a question of law". Id. In determining whether the motion is legally sufficiency of a motion to disqualify, the court asks "whether the facts alleged, which must be assumed to be true, would cause the movant to have a well founded fear that he or she will not receive a fair trial at the hands of that judge" emphasis added. Id. (citing Fla.R.Jud.Admin. 2.330(d)(1)). Judge Firtel "inappropriately passes on the truth of the facts asserted" See Scholz v Hauser, 657 So.2d 950 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). "By doing so [the Judge] has

alone is a basis for disqualification". (emphasis added) *See* Bundy v Rudd, 366 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1978).

The Florida Supreme Court has recently held: "A motion to disqualify is governed substantively by section 38.10, Florida Statutes, and procedurally by Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.330" Lynch State, 2 So. 3d 47 (Fla. Nov. "The disqualification procedure is designed to assure the appearance 6, 2008). and reality of impartial adjudication while avoiding the undesirable situation which could be presented by inquiry into the existence of an actual prejudice on the part of the trial judge. (Emphasis added.) Breakstone v. Mackenzie, 561 So. 3DCA 1989). "Ultimately, questions of judicial 1164, 1168 (Fla. disqualification must be viewed in the context of those principles which were eloquently set forth by Justice Terrell in State ex rel. Davis v. Parks, 141 Fla. 516, 194 So. 613, 615 (1939)" citing Hayslip v Douglas, 400 So.2d 553 (Fla. App. 4DCA 1981):

"Every litigant is entitled to nothing less than cold neutrality of an impartial judge. It is the duty of Courts to scrupulously guard this right and to refrain from attempting to exercise jurisdiction in any manner where his qualification to do so is seriously brought in question. *The exercise of any other policy tends to discredit*

the judiciary and shadow the administration of Justice. (emphasis added) Hayslip at 557.

The Florida Bar has initiated and insists on maintaining this quasi-judicial disciplinary inquiry to determine the truth of matters asserted as Tropp's basis for fearing he would not receive a fair trial as a litigant/ party.

c. The "Fourth Motion" alleged Predisposition and not "improper ex parte communication"

The Florida Bar's Complaint against Tropp primary focus is that the "Fourth Motion To Disqualify alleges that Judge Firtel and Chames had improper ex parte discussions about the amount of Respondent's support payments" (Par. 9) and "Respondent thus knowingly made allegations in his Fourth Motion that lack candor, are without merit and wrongfully impugn Judge Firtel". (par. 13).

This assertion is factually incorrect. Tropp *never* stated that an "improper ex parte discussions" nor has he ever mentioned or used the word "'ex parte discussions". Moreover, Tropp's subjective fear of not having a cold, neutral and impartial Judge was explicitly predicated on *predisposition* on amount "he's going to order which was said and done in his chambers outside of my presence and involving the financial issues herein. The record assumes that the respondent and Mr. Baron had or would have had clear and unambiguous communications with the

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