IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner/ Appellee,

v.

DANIEL EDGAR TROPP,

Respondent/Appellant.

Supreme Court Case No. SC11-45 CLESSIE SUPREME COURT

The Florida Bar File No. 2010-70,301(11F)

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

JENNIFER R. FALCONE MOORE Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 624284 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 200999 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee's findings of fact and recommendations as to guilt are supported by competent and substantial evidence, and are not clearly erroneous. Therefore, the factual findings and the recommendations as to guilt should be adopted by this Court. Further, this Court has the jurisdiction and authority to determine whether Respondent made false statements with reckless disregard for the truth in his motion to disqualify Judge Firtel, and to discipline Respondent for that misconduct. Finally, the recommended sanctions of a public reprimand and referral to FLA for evaluation, are supported by existing case law and the facts and circumstances presented to the Referee in this case. However, should the Court be inclined to impose a harsher sanction, based in part on Respondent's conduct of the present appeal, a rehabilitative suspension of between one and three years is also supported by existing case law.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT SHOULD BE ADOPTED BY THIS COURT, AS SUCH FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL RECORD EVIDENCE, AND ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.¹

Respondent argues that several specific factual findings, and/or legal conclusions, contained in the Report of Referee are inaccurate. Contrary to Respondent's assertions, the Referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law, are neither clearly erroneous, nor unsupported by record ⁶ evidence; therefore, the Referee's recommendation should be adopted by this Court.

In a disciplinary proceeding before a referee, the Bar has the burden of proving the allegations of misconduct by clear and convincing evidence. *The Florida Bar v. Marable*, 645 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994). However, on review of a referee's findings of fact, this Court presumes the findings to be correct. *Id.*; see also *The Florida Bar v. Vannier*, 498 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1986). The party seeking review of such findings and/or recommendations carries the burden of showing that they are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. *The Florida Bar v. McClure*, 575 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1991). Because the referee is in the better position to evaluate the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, the referee's finding of fact should be upheld if they are supported by competent, substantial

¹ The Florida Bar's Argument I in its Answer Brief refers to Respondent's Argument "a" in his Amended Brief of Respondent

evidence. *The Florida Bar v. Marable*, 645 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994). Where a party contends that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous, that party must demonstrate that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions made. *The Florida Bar v. Rue*, 643 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994). In the absence of such a showing, the referee's findings will be upheld. *The Florida Bar v. Hayden*, 583 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1991); *The Florida Bar v. McKenzie*, 442 So.2d 934 (Fla. 1984). In the present case, the Respondent cannot meet his burden of establishing that there is no evidence in the record to support the Referee's factual findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions made. Respondent's argument is without merit and must be denied.

First, Respondent appears to contest the Referee's finding that Mr. Richard Baron was counsel of record in the post dissolution proceedings during the relevant time period. Respondent presents no record evidence to support his contention, and indeed, there is no record evidence that would support same. Rather, the evidence presented to the Referee at the Final Hearing established conclusively that Richard Baron was in fact counsel of record throughout the relevant time period.

Richard Baron came into the case on an unqualified Notice of Appearance several years before the occurrences giving rise to this disciplinary matter. (TR.

Then, in August 2009, during the time period giving rise to these 62-63). proceedings, Baron and Respondent attempted to limit Baron's participation to that of co-counsel on custody issues only. (TR. 63). Baron filed a Notice of Limited Appearance and a Motion to Withdraw as to all issues except custody issues. (TR. 46-48, 63-64; TFB Ex. 6; ROR 3). However, the court specifically *refused* to grant this motion, and Baron remained counsel of record in this matter throughout the relevant time period. (TR. 18, 20, 29-32, 69-70; TFB Ex. 4; ROR 3). Baron was not allowed out of the case until successor Judge Ivan Fernandez entered an order granting his Motion to Withdraw on April 19, 2010. (TR. 31; TFB Ex. 5). Thus, the record evidence irrefutably supports the Referee's finding of fact that Richard Baron was counsel of record at the time he went into the judge's chambers with Chames, and engaged in the discussion referred to in Paragraph "a" of the Fourth Motion.

Next, Respondent appears to contest that the First Verified Motion to Disqualify was based on the alleged "bias" of Judge Firtel. Respondent's assertion is without merit. The First Verified Motion to Disqualify was introduced into evidence as the first document in The Florida Bar's Composite Exhibit 3. Throughout the motion the Respondent asserts his fear that he will not receive a fair and impartial trial. (TFB Comp. Ex. 3). Then, in the section entitled Legal Basis for Granting of this Motion for Disqualification, Respondent asserted, "The primary concern is to avoid the appearance of bias. Thus, if the facts alleged would prompt a reasonably prudent person to fear he would not get a fair and impartial trial, the Motion must be granted." (TFB Comp. Ex. 3)(internal citations omitted). This document speaks for itself, and clearly supports the Referee's finding of fact.

The Respondent further contests the Referee's finding of fact that his second motion to disqualify was denied as legally insufficient. Instead, Respondent states that the motion was denied as legally insufficient and untimely. While this correction does not demonstrate that the Referee's findings of fact are incorrect, the Florida Bar does concede that the order denying the motion to disqualify does in fact state that is denied as legally insufficient and untimely. (TFB Comp. Ex. 3)

More relevantly, Respondent next disputes the Referee's finding that the Fourth Motion "alleged that Judge Firtel and Chames had improper ex-parte discussion." Rather, Respondent contends that his motion did not mention ex-parte conversations, but instead was based on the judge's predisposition. Respondent's assertion is without merit. The Fourth Motion was introduced into evidence as The Florida Bar's Exhibit 1. In that document, the Respondent specifically asserted that Chames and the judge had a meeting at which he was not present, wherein the support payments were discussed, and further states that his attorney had no recollection of being present for any such meeting. These statements, taken

together clearly describe an ex-parte conversation between the judge and Chames. The fact that the word "ex-parte" does not appear in that paragraph does not change the inherent characterization of same. (TR. 100-101; TFB Ex. 1). This document speaks for itself, and clearly supports the Referee's finding of fact and conclusion of law.

Finally, Respondent disputes the Referee's finding that the in chambers meeting took place during a recess of a hearing. He further suggests that Baron did not testify conclusively regarding these events, but rather, could not remember same. Contrary to Respondent's contentions, the record evidence clearly supports the Referee's findings of fact concerning the meeting.

The only testimony in the record regarding this meeting came from Mr. Baron, who testified unequivocally and without impeachment that the meeting took place during a recess in a court proceeding. (TR. 23). While Respondent is correct that Mr. Baron could not remember the specific language he employed to inform Respondent of the in chambers conversation between himself, Chames and Judge Firtel, he did state that he was absolutely certain that he informed Respondent of the conversation. (TR. 53-54). In response to cross-examination by Respondent on this issue, Mr Baron stated, "As I sit here today, I'm certain that I discussed what happened in chambers that day, whether it was immediately after the judge and I and Deborah had that conversation or if it was an hour later or six hours later,

I can't tell you with certainty, but I do know that was a discussion we had." (TR. 54). Respondent did not impeach Mr. Baron, nor did he present any evidence to contradict Baron's testimony. Therefore, the record evidence clearly supports the Referee's findings of fact, and same should be adopted by this Court.

II. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF GUILT AS TO THE RULE VIOLATIONS CHARGED ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL RECORD EVIDENCE, AND ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.²

It is unclear what argument Respondent is asserting in his Argument "b". It appears that Respondent may be asserting that the Referee and this Honorable Court lack authority or jurisdiction to determine the truth or falsity of the claims raised in his motions to disqualify, and correspondingly to impose discipline based on false statements contained in that pleading. To the extent that the Florida Bar understands the nature of the argument, it is without merit and must be denied.

Respondent appears to misapprehend the nature of these proceedings, and the substantive context of the legal precedent on which he relies. Respondent accurately recites the case law regarding whether a judge may address the truth or falsity of the claims made in a motion to disqualify *for the purposes of ruling on said motion*. However, there is no authority which allows Respondent, or any litigant, to make false statements in such a pleading with reckless disregard for the

² The Florida Bar's Argument II in its Answer Brief refers to Respondent's Argument "b" in his Amended Brief of Respondent

truth, as Respondent did here. The duty of candor towards the tribunal is everpresent, and is not set aside simply because a judge is legally prohibited from addressing the truth or falsity of the allegations. Further, there is no authority to support the contention that, just because Judge Firtel could not address the falsity of the allegations, that this Court is likewise prohibited from attending to same. This Court has absolute authority and responsibility for disciplining an attorney who makes false statements in a pleading submitted to the court. Any ruling to the contrary would be antithetical to protecting the integrity of legal proceedings. This is especially true in a situation such as the one presented here, where the judge is prohibited as a matter of law from addressing the truth of the allegations. As this Court recently reiterated:

> '[B]asic, fundamental dishonesty ... is a serious flaw, which cannot be tolerated' because dishonesty and a lack of candor 'cannot be tolerated by a profession that relies on the truthfulness of its members.' *Fla. Bar v. Rotstein*, 835 So.2d 241, 246 (Fla.2002). Dishonest conduct demonstrates the utmost disrespect for the court and is destructive to the legal system as a whole.

The Florida Bar. v. Head, 27 So. 3d 1, 8-9 (Fla. 2010). Respondent's argument is without merit and must be denied.

III. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS CONCERNING THE ALLEGATIONS CONTAINED IN THE FOURTH MOTION TO DISQUALIFY ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL RECORD EVIDENCE, AND ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.³

Respondent asserts that, since he never used the words "ex-parte discussions," then he did not allege an ex-parte communication in his Fourth motion to Disqualify Judge Firtel. Rather, Respondent contends that he alleged predisposition as the basis for disqualification. Respondent's assertion is without merit and must be denied.

While it may be true that predisposition was also alleged in his motion, there is no doubt that in paragraph "a" of the motion Respondent alleged that an ex-parte communication occurred between Judge Firtel and Chames. The Fourth Motion was introduced into evidence as The Florida Bar's Exhibit 1. In that document, the Respondent specifically asserted that Chames and the judge had a meeting at which he was not present, wherein the support payments were discussed, and further states that his attorney had no recollection of being present for any such meeting. These statements, taken together clearly describe an 'ex-parte' does not appear in that paragraph does not change the inherent characterization of same. (TR. 100-101; TFB Ex. 1). This document speaks for itself, and clearly

³ The Florida Bar's Argument III in its Answer Brief refers to Respondent's Argument "c" in his Amended Brief of Respondent .

supports the Referee's finding of fact and conclusion of law. Respondent, himself, acknowledged this fact in his opening statement, wherein he admitted that in the body of the motion he cited "a bunch of cases that, technically speaking, it was exparte communication." (TR. 11). Respondent's contention is therefore without merit, and must be denied.

IV. **REFEREE'S FINDINGS** CONCERNING THE THE ALLEGED COMMUNICATIONS **EX-PARTE** ARE SUPPORTED COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL BY RECORD EVIDENCE, AND NOT **CLEARLY** ARE **ERRONEOUS.**⁴

Respondent appears to assert that the discussion that took place between Chames, Baron and Judge Firtel in chambers was in fact an ex-parte discussion because he was not present. Respondent's assertion is without merit and must be denied.

The evidence presented in this case is unrefuted and clearly establishes that Richard Baron was counsel of record for Respondent during the relevant time period. Further, the evidence is unrefuted and clearly establishes that Judge Firtel called counsel of record back into his chambers during a recess in a hearing, and that the discussion referred to in the Fourth Motion occurred at that time. Both Chames and Baron were present during this discussion. According to Black's Law Dictionary, the definition of an ex-parte communication is, "A communication

⁴ The Florida Bar's Argument IV in its Answer Brief refers to Respondent's Argument "d" in his Amended Brief of Respondent.

between counsel and the court when the opposing counsel is not present." See Black's Law Dictionary, 9th Edition, at 316 (2009). Even in the cases cited by Respondent to support his contention, each case holds that an ex parte communication occurs when the party or his counsel is not present. (emphasis added). Since Respondent's counsel of record, Mr. Baron, was present for the discussion, it was not, as a matter of fact and law, an ex-parte communication. Respondent's assertion is without merit and must be denied.

V. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF GUILT OF RULES 4-3.1, 4-3.3, 4-8.4(c) AND 4-8.4(d) ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL RECORD EVIDENCE, AND ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.⁵

Respondent titled his argument "e" as an attack on the Referee's recommendation of guilt of the charged Rules, where he was acting in his capacity as a pro se litigant, rather than in his capacity as an attorney representing a client. Respondent then went on to cite cases and authority protecting his right to appear pro se, and protection of pro se litigants. It does not appear that he has presented any authority or made any argument indicating that anything recommended by the Referee was improper. As such, there is nothing to which the Florida Bar can Answer.

However, to the extent that Respondent's heading contends that the charged

⁵ The Florida Bar's Argument V in its Answer Brief refers to Respondent's Argument "e" in his Amended Brief of Respondent

Rules do not apply to an attorney representing himself, the Respondent's contention is without merit and must be denied. Respondent is an attorney admitted to the Florida Bar. Therefore, if he is in violation of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, he may be disciplined by this Honorable Court. *See generally* Rules 3-1.2, 3-3.1, and 3-4.2 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. Further, there is nothing in the language of Rules 4-3.1, 4-3.3, nor 4-8.4 that limits its application to a lawyer's representation of a third party client. As such, Respondent's possible assertion of error is without merit and must be denied.

VI. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED SANCTION COMPORTS WITH CASE LAW AND ADDRESSES THE CIRCUMSTANCES RAISED IN THE CASE.⁶

Respondent asserts that the Referee's recommendation of a referral to FLA for an evaluation was not proper. Respondent has not substantively addressed this Court's order, dated May 2, 2012, directing Respondent to address the appropriateness of the recommended sanction, or why a more severe sanction including suspension should not be imposed. Contrary to Respondent's assertions, the entirety of the Referee's recommended sanctions are proper.

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